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No. 16-2881

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT

DAVID DANON,
Plaintiff-Appellant,
V.
VANGUARD GROUP, INC.,
Defendant-Appellee.

On Appeal from the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania

BRIEF OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
AMICUS CURIAE IN SUPPORT OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission’), after notice-
and-comment rulemaking, issued a rule to clarify an ambiguity in the
whistleblower employment anti-retaliation provisions in Section 21F(h)(1) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. §78u-6(h)(1). The
Commission’s rule interpreted the anti-retaliation protections to extend to any
individual who engages in the whistleblowing activities described in Section
21F(h)(1)(A), irrespective of whether the individual makes a separate report to the
Commission. Is the Commission’s rule entitled to deference under Chevron,

U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984)?
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INTEREST OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
AND SUMMARY OF ITS POSITION

The Commission—the agency principally responsible for the administration
of the federal securities laws—submits this brief as amicus curiae pursuant to Fed.
R. App. P. 29(a) to address an important securities law issue presented in this
appeal.

Congress, in Section 922 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank™), Pub. L. No. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376,
1841-49 (2010), amended the Exchange Act to add Section 21F, entitled
“Securities Whistleblower Incentives and Protection” and codified at 15 U.S.C.
878u-6. Section 21F directs the Commission to pay awards to individuals whose
reports to the Commission about violations of the securities laws result in
successful Commission enforcement actions, and prohibits employers from
retaliating against individuals in the terms and conditions of their employment
when they engage in certain specified whistleblowing activities. (The award
program and anti-retaliation protections are referred to collectively herein as “the
whistleblower program.”)

In May 2011, at Congress’s direction, the Commission issued final rules
“Implementing the provisions of Section 21F.” See Dodd-Frank 8924(a), 124 Stat.
at 1850. Throughout the rulemaking process, the Commission considered the

“significant issue” of how to ensure that the whistleblower program does not
2
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undermine the willingness of individuals to make whistleblower reports internally
at their companies before they make reports to the Commission. Securities
Whistleblower Incentives and Protections (“Adopting Release”), 76 Fed. Reg.
34300, 34300, 34323 (June 13, 2011); Proposed Rules for Implementing the
Whistleblower Provisions of Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Proposing Release™), 75 Fed. Reg. 70488, 70488 (Nov. 17, 2010). The
Commission’s final rules were carefully calibrated to achieve this objective by
providing “strong incentives” for individuals in appropriate circumstances to report
internally in the first instance. Adopting Release at 34301, 34322.*

One of those rules—Exchange Act Rule 21F-2(b)(1), 17 C.F.R. 8240.21F-
2(b)(1)—is at issue in this litigation.? The Commission has a strong programmatic

Interest in demonstrating that the rule’s reasonable interpretation of certain

! The Commission recognized that internal reporting is not always

appropriate, and the decision whether to do so (either prior to reporting to the
Commission or at all) is best left for whistleblowers to determine based on the
particular facts and circumstances. See Adopting Release at 34327. Among the
considerations a whistleblower would likely consider are: (i) whether the
employer has an anonymous reporting system; (ii) whether the potential
misconduct involves upper-level management; (iii) whether the misconduct is still
ongoing and poses a risk of sufficiently significant harm to investors that
immediate reporting to the Commission is more appropriate; and (iv) whether the
employer may be prone to bad faith conduct such as the destruction of evidence.
Id. at 34326.

2 Each rule designated in this brief as Exchange Act Rule 21F-__is codified

at 17 C.F.R. §240.21F- .
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ambiguous statutory language was a valid exercise of the Commission’s broad
rulemaking authority under Section 21F. This interest arises for two related
reasons. First, the rule helps protect individuals who choose to report potential
violations internally in the first instance (i.e., before reporting to the Commission),
and thus is an important component of the overall design of the whistleblower
program. Second, if the rule were invalidated, the Commission’s authority to
pursue enforcement actions against employers that retaliate against individuals
who report internally would be substantially weakened.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.  The securities laws recognize that internal company reporting by
employees and others is important for deterring, detecting, and
stopping unlawful conduct that may harm investors.

Companies’ processes for the internal reporting of violations of law and
other misconduct “play an important role in facilitating compliance with the
securities laws.” Adopting Release at 34325; accord id. at 34324. Among other
things, these internal reporting processes can help companies to promptly identify,
correct, and self-report unlawful conduct by officers, employees, or others
connected to the company. See generally Proposing Release at 70496. In this
way, “reporting through internal compliance procedures can complement or
otherwise appreciably enhance [the Commission’s] enforcement efforts ... .”

Adopting Release at 34359 n.450; see also Report of Investigation Pursuant to
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Section 21(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Commission Statement
on the Relationship of Cooperation to Agency Enforcement Decisions, 2001 WL
1301408, at *1 (Oct. 23, 2001) (“When businesses seek out, self-report and rectify
illegal conduct, and otherwise cooperate with Commission staff, large expenditures
of government and shareholder resources can be avoided and investors can benefit
more promptly.”).?

Recognizing the significant role that internal company reporting can play,
Congress for nearly two decades has enacted a series of amendments to the
securities laws to encourage, and in some instances to require, internal reporting of
potential misconduct. In 1995, Congress amended the Exchange Act to add
Section 10A(b), entitled “Required Response to Audit Discoveries.” See Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Pub. L. No. 104-67, 8301, 109 Stat. 737,
762-64. Section 10A(b) imposes a series of internal company disclosure
obligations on a registered public accounting firm that, during the course of
conducting an audit of a public company required by the Exchange Act, discovers

that an illegal act connected to the company has occurred.* Section 10A(b)

3 To be clear, as the Commission has advised, “while internal compliance

programs are valuable, they are not substitutes for strong law enforcement.”
Adopting Release at 34326 (emphasis added).

4 This brief uses the term “public company” to refer to a company with a class

of securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act and those required to
file reports under Section 15(d) of that Act.

5
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describes a process of disclosure by the auditor to the Commission after the
auditor’s internal disclosures occur and certain other conditions are met, including
a failure on the company’s part to take an appropriate response.’

In 2002, Congress enacted the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-
Oxley”), Pub. L. No. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745, in response to “a series of celebrated

accounting debacles”®

involving companies such as Enron and WorldCom. As
part of Sarbanes-Oxley, Congress enacted several additional provisions related to
the internal company reporting of wrongdoing.” In Section 307, for example,
Congress directed the Commission to issue rules requiring attorneys appearing and

practicing before the Commission in the representation of public companies “to

report evidence of a material violation” of the securities laws or any “breach of

° An early version of the legislative proposal that became Section 10A would

have required auditors to report immediately to the Commission. SEC Chairman
John Shad testified before Congress at the time in opposition to such a reporting
requirement. See SEC and Corporate Audits (Part 6): Hearings on Detecting and
Disclosing Financial Fraud Before Subcomm. on Oversight and Investigations of
the Comm. on Energy and Commerce, 99th Cong. 345 (1986) (“[W]hy not give
management an opportunity to respond to suspicions and take corrective action?”).

° Free Enter. Fund v. Pub. Co. Accounting Oversight Bd., 561 U.S. 477, 484
(2010).

! A principal aim of Sarbanes-Oxley was to promote the establishment of
robust internal corporate governance mechanisms and processes that could
promptly identify and remedy violations. See, e.g., Sarbanes-Oxley 8404, 15
U.S.C. 87262 (requiring internal compliance systems and an annual audit by
outside auditors).
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fiduciary duty or similar violation by the company or any agent thereof” to
specified company officials. Sarbanes-Oxley 8307, 15 U.S.C. §7245. These
attorneys are not required to make reports to the Commission and, indeed, may
often be precluded from doing so as a result of their ethical obligations to their
clients.® Similarly, Sarbanes-Oxley added Exchange Act Section 10A(m)(4),
which required the Commission, by rule, to direct that national securities
exchanges and national securities associations require that audit committees of
listed companies establish internal company procedures allowing employees and
others to submit complaints “regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or
auditing matters,” and to report anonymously “concerns regarding questionable
accounting or auditing matters.” See Sarbanes-Oxley 8301, 116 Stat. at 775-77; 17
C.F.R. 8240.10A-3(b)(3).

Further, Section 806 of Sarbanes-Oxley (as later amended by Dodd-Frank)
prohibited public companies, certain related persons or entities, and nationally

recognized statistical rating organizations from engaging in employment retaliation

8 Only in limited situations—where an attorney reasonably believes it is

“necessary” to report to the Commission to prevent a securities law violation that
will cause substantial financial injury, or to correct past violations of similar
severity where the attorney’s services were used—may attorneys report evidence
of a material violation to the Commission. 17 C.F.R. §205.3(d)(2). But even when
such disclosure to the Commission is permitted, an attorney will typically need to
report internally first in order to satisfy the requirement that disclosure to the
Commission may be necessary.
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against an employee who makes certain whistleblower disclosures concerning,
among other things, securities fraud (18 U.S.C. 8§1348), bank fraud (id. §1344),
mail fraud (id. §1341), wire fraud (id. 81343), or any violation of a Commission
rule or regulation. 18 U.S.C. §81514A(a). The whistleblower disclosures are
protected if they are made to “a person with supervisory authority over the
employee (or such other person working for the employer who has the authority to
investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct),” or to Congress or certain
governmental agencies (including the Commission). 1d. §1514A(a)(1)(C).°
B. By providing new incentives and protections for individuals to engage in
whistleblowing activity, the Dodd-Frank whistleblower program

enhances the existing securities-law enforcement scheme, including
internal company reporting.

As noted above, Dodd-Frank established the Commission’s new
whistleblower program in 2010 by adding Section 21F to the Exchange Act.

Section 21F expressly authorized the Commission “to issue such rules and

? The Commission has periodically adopted rules and regulations requiring

internal reporting in certain circumstances either within or among regulated
entities. See, e.g., 17 C.F.R. §270.38a-1(a)(4) (requiring the chief compliance
officer of a mutual fund to report the details of any material compliance matters to
the fund’s board); 17 C.F.R. §240.17a-5(h)(2) (requiring the auditor of a broker-
dealer to report material inadequacies to the chief financial officer); 17 C.F.R.
8275.204A-1(a)(4) (requiring each investment adviser to establish a code of ethics
requiring supervised persons to report any violations thereof to the chief
compliance officer); 17 C.F.R. 8275.206(4)-2(a)(6)(ii) (requiring each investment
adviser to obtain an internal control report with respect to custody of client assets
maintained by the investment adviser or an affiliate).

8



Case: 16-2881 Document: 003112445742 Page: 19  Date Filed: 10/26/2016

regulations as may be necessary or appropriate to implement the provisions of this
section consistent with the purposes of this section.” Exchange Act 821F(j). In
May 2011, the Commission used that broad authority to adopt final rules
implementing both the monetary award and employment anti-retaliation aspects of
the whistleblower program.
1. The Commission carefully calibrated the rules implementing the
monetary award component of the whistleblower program to

ensure that individuals were not disincentivized from first
reporting internally.

Section 21F directs the Commission to pay awards, subject to certain
limitations and conditions, to individuals who voluntarily provide the Commission
with original information about a violation of the securities laws that leads to the
successful enforcement of an action brought by the Commission resulting in
monetary sanctions exceeding $1,000,000."° See Exchange Act §21F(a)-(c).
Further, Section 21F affords the Commission discretion to set the amount of each
award within a range of 10 percent to 30 percent of the total monetary sanctions

collected. Id.

9 Asdiscussed infra Argument Part 111, Section 21F also provides for awards

where the same original information that led to a successful Commission
enforcement action also led to a successful enforcement action by certain other
statutorily specified law enforcement and regulatory authorities, including the U.S.
Department of Justice and the various self-regulatory organizations that are under
the Commission’s supervision (e.g., FINRA).

9
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A principal challenge the Commission faced in crafting rules to implement
the award program was ensuring that employees and others were not dissuaded
from reporting internally due to the possibility of a monetary award. See
Proposing Release at 70488 (expressing the Commission’s desire “not to
discourage whistleblowers who work for companies that have robust compliance
programs [from] first report[ing] the violation to appropriate company personnel”)
(emphasis added). Were this to happen, the Commission recognized, the result
could be a reduction in the “effectiveness of a company’s existing compliance,
legal, audit and similar internal processes for investigating and responding to
potential violations of the Federal securities laws,” which in turn could weaken
corporate compliance with the securities laws. 1d. at 70488."* The Commission
also recognized that “reporting through internal compliance procedures can
complement or otherwise appreciably enhance [its] enforcement efforts in
appropriate circumstances.” Adopting Release at 34359 n.450.

For instance, the subject company may at times be better able to

distinguish between meritorious and frivolous claims, and may make

such findings available for the Commission. This would be
particularly true in instances where the reported matter entails a high

1 Cf. Proposing Release at 70516 (explaining that “allow[ing] a company a

reasonable period of time to investigate and respond to potential securities laws
violations (or at least begin an investigation) prior to [an individual making a
report] to the Commission” is “consistent with the Commission’s efforts to
encourage companies to create and implement strong corporate compliance
programs”).

10
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level of institutional or company-specific knowledge and/or the
company has a well-functioning internal compliance program in
place. Screening allegations through internal compliance programs
may limit false or frivolous claims, provide the entity an opportunity
to resolve the violation and report the result to the Commission, and
allow the Commission to use its resources more efficiently.

Id 12
Accordingly, the Commission “tailored the final rules to provide
whistleblowers who are otherwise pre-disposed to report internally, but who may
also be affected by financial incentives, with additional economic incentives to
continue to report internally” in the first instance.’® 1d. at 34360. The final rules
seek to do this in three principal ways:
» An individual “who reports internally can collect a whistleblower
award from the Commission if his internal report to the company or
entity results in a successful covered action.” 1d. (discussing
Exchange Act Rule 21F-4(c)(3)).
» An individual “who first reports [pursuant] to an entity’s internal

whistleblower, legal, or compliance procedures for reporting
allegations of possible violations of law and within 120 days reports

12 See also Proposing Release at 70516 (explaining that allowing individuals to

first report internally “provides a mechanism by which some of th[e] erroneous
[tips] may be eliminated before reaching the Commission,” and that otherwise “a
large number of tips of varying quality [could] caus[e] the Commission to incur
costs to process and validate the information”).

13 Many commenters during the rulemaking, particularly industry-affiliated

commenters, urged the Commission to encourage or require individuals to report
internally before reporting to the Commission. See, e.g., Adopting Release at
34326 n.230 (citing comment letters from, among others, the Business Roundtable
and the U.S. Chamber of Commerce).

11
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to the Commission” will be treated for purposes of an award as “if
[the submission to the Commission] had been made at the earlier
internal reporting date.” Id. at 34322 (emphasis added) (discussing
Exchange Act Rule 21F-4(b)(7)). “This means that even if, in the
interim, another whistleblower has made a submission that caused the
[Commission’s] staff to begin an investigation into the same matter,
the [individual] who had first reported internally will be considered
the first whistleblower who came to the Commission ... .” Id.

» “In addition, the final rules provide that when determining the amount
of an award, the Commission will consider as a plus-factor the
whistleblower’s participation in an entity’s internal compliance
procedures.” Id. at 34360 (discussing Exchange Act Rule 21F-
6(a)(4))."* The ability to adjust an award upward based on internal
reporting, the Commission explained, would “allow [the Commission]
to account for a reduced monetary sanction ... where the internal
reporting potentially resulted in a lower monetary sanction” because
the company responded to the internal report by engaging in
remediation, self-reporting and cooperating with the Commission. Id.
at 34360 n.455.

Beyond the tailored financial incentives that the Commission crafted
to encourage individuals to report internally in appropriate situations, the
final rules also require that officers, directors, trustees, and partners, as well
as other specified personnel having internal audit or compliance
responsibilities, must in certain instances first internally disclose the
information about potential securities law violations and then wait 120 days

before reporting the information to the Commission. See Exchange Act

1 Relatedly, the Commission’s rules also provide that “a whistleblower’s

interference with internal compliance and reporting is a factor that can decrease the
amount of an award.” Adopting Release at 34301, 34331 (discussing Exchange
Act Rule 21F-6(b)(3)).

12
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Rule 21F-4(b)(4). The Commission determined that this restriction was
necessary to discourage “whistleblower submission[s] [that] might
undermine the proper operation of internal compliance systems” that
companies have established for responding to violations of law. Adopting
Release at 34317.

2. Using its broad rulemaking authority, the Commission adopted a
rule clarifying that employment retaliation is prohibited against
individuals who engage in any of the whistleblowing activity
described in Section 21F(h)(1)(A)(iii)—including making internal
reports at public companies of securities fraud violations.

Section 21F(h)(1) is designed to protect employees who engage in certain

specified whistleblowing activities. It does this in two significant ways.

First, subparagraph (A) seeks to prevent employment retaliation by placing
employers on notice that they may not retaliate against employees who engage in
certain whistleblowing activity. This is clear from the express terms of the
subparagraph, which is drafted as a prohibition directed to employers:

(A) In General. No employer may discharge, demote, suspend,

threaten, harass, directly or indirectly, or in any other manner
discriminate against, a whistleblower in the terms and
conditions of employment because of any lawful act done by

the whistleblower—

(i)  inproviding information to the Commission in
accordance with this section;

(if)  ininitiating, testifying in, or assisting in any investigation
or judicial or administrative action of the Commission
based upon or related to such information; or

13
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(iii)  in making disclosures that are required or protected under
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (15 U.S.C. 7201 et seq.),
this chapter [i.e., the Exchange Act], including section
78j-1(m) of this title [i.e., Section 10A(m) of the
Exchange Act], section 1513(e) of Title 18, and any other
law, rule, or regulation subject to the jurisdiction of the
Commission.™
Second, subparagraphs (B) and (C) address the legal remedies that employees can
pursue against employers who have failed to heed subparagraph (A)’s
prohibition.*®
The Commission, employing its broad rulemaking authority under Section
21F(j), adopted two clarifying rules related to the prohibition in subparagraph (A).
The first rule expressly stated that the Commission possesses authority to bring
civil enforcement actions and proceedings against employers who violate the
retaliation prohibition. See Exchange Act Rule 21F-2(b)(2).
The second rule, Exchange Act Rule 21F-2(b)(1), clarified that the

retaliation prohibition in subparagraph (A) protects any employee who engages in

= As discussed infra 15-16, the disclosures listed in clause (iii) include the

internal company reporting disclosures described above in Part A.

1 Subparagraph (B) provides a cause of action in federal district court for any

“Iindividual who alleges discharge or other discrimination in violation of
subparagraph (A).” Exchange Act §21F(h)(1)(B)(i). Subparagraph (C) provides
that relief in a successful action shall include reinstatement, two times back pay,
compensation for litigation costs, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorneys’
fees. 1d. 821F(h)(1)(C).

14
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any of the whistleblowing activities specified in clauses (i)-(iii) above, irrespective
of whether the employee separately reports the information to the Commission. It
provides in pertinent part:
For purposes of the anti-retaliation protections afforded by Section
21F(h)(1) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78u-6(h)(1)), you are a

whistleblower if:

(i) You provide that information in a manner described in Section
21F(h)(1)(A) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78u-6(h)(1)(A)).

17 C.F.R. §240.21F-2(b)(2)(ii).

As the Commission explained in the adopting release, this rule reflects the
fact that clause (iii) prohibits employers from retaliating against “individuals who
report to persons or governmental authorities other than the Commission.”
Adopting Release at 34304 (emphasis in original). In particular, clause (iii)
prohibits employers from retaliating against employees who make the “disclosures
that are required or protected under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act” or the other securities
laws, including the internal company disclosures described above in Part A. For
example:

> Disclosures that Sarbanes-Oxley Section 307 requires attorneys for

the public company to make to the company’s general counsel

regarding potential evidence of a material violation of the securities

laws or a breach of fiduciary duty by a corporate director;

» Disclosures to an audit committee pursuant to Section 10A(m) of the

Exchange Act concerning “questionable accounting or auditing
matters” at a public company; and

15
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» Disclosur